
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COLUMBIA DIVISION 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 

                              Plaintiff,  

 

ex rel. DAVID H. HAMMETT, M.D., 

 

                              Plaintiff-Relator,  

              

v. 

 

LEXINGTON COUNTY HEALTH 

SERVICES DISTRICT, INC d/b/a 

LEXINGTON MEDICAL CENTER 

 

                              Defendant. 

 

 

 

CA No. 3:14-cv-03653-CMC 

 

 

 

 

AMENDED COMPLAINT 

(Jury Trial Demanded) 

 

 Plaintiff-Relator David H. Hammett, M.D. files this Amended Complaint pursuant to the 

federal False Claims Act (FCA), 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq., to recover monies illegally obtained 

by Defendant Lexington Medical Center from federal health insurance programs for designated 

health services referred to the hospital by employee physicians in violation of the Stark Law, 42 

U.S.C. § 1395nn, and the Anti-Kickback Statute (AKS), 42 U.S.C. § 1320-7b. This illegal conduct 

results in the submission of claims for payment in violation of federal law. Plaintiff-Relator would 

respectfully show the Court as follows:  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This action arises under the FCA, Stark Law, and the AKS. This Court has subject 

matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 & 1345 and 31 U.S.C. §§ 3730(b) & 3732(a).  

2. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 

3732(a) because Defendant transacts business in this District and numerous acts prohibited by 

federal law occurred in this District.  
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3. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a). 

4. Dr. Hammett’s claims and this Complaint are not based upon the prior public 

disclosure of allegations or transactions in a criminal, civil, or administrative hearing in which the 

Government or its agent is a party; in a congressional, Government Accountability Office, or other 

federal report, hearing, audit, or investigation; or from news media, as enumerated by 31 U.S.C. § 

3730(e)(4)(A). To the extent there has been a public disclosure unknown to Dr. Hammett, he is 

the “original source” and the public disclosure is a result of Dr. Hammett voluntarily providing 

this information to the United States prior to filing this qui tam action. See 31 U.S.C. § 

3730(e)(4)(B).  

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff-Relator David H. Hammett, M.D., is a medical doctor specializing in 

neurology and a citizen residing in the State of South Carolina. Dr. Hammett has brought this 

action on behalf of the United States and its agencies, including the Department of Health and 

Human Services (HHS) and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). Dr. Hammett 

obtained the direct personal knowledge of the facts alleged here during his employment by 

Lexington Medical Center.    

6. Defendant Lexington County Health Services District, Inc. d/b/a Lexington 

Medical Center (LMC) is a regional health services district incorporated in the State of South 

Carolina. LMC provides inpatient and outpatient health care services through a countywide 

healthcare network that includes a 400+ bed hospital, six satellite medical and urgent care centers, 

an occupational health center, an extended care facility, 60 medical practices, and over 600 

physicians. LMC’s corporate headquarters, hospital, and principal place of business is Lexington 

County at 2720 Sunset Boulevard, West Columbia, South Carolina. All of the actions attributed to 
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LMC in this Amended Complaint were taken by employees and/or agents acting within the scope 

of their employment and/or agency with LMC.   

RELEVANT STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

The Medicare Program 

7. When Congress passed the Social Security Act of 1965, it created the Medicare 

Program; a remedial federal health insurance program designed to ensure “adequate medical care 

is available to the aged throughout this country.” Hultzman v. Weinberger, 495 F.2d 1276, 1281 

(3d Cir. 1974); see also Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 426, 426A.  

8. Medicare Part A authorizes payment for institutional care, including hospital, 

skilled nursing facility and home health care. See 42 U.S.C. §§ 1395c-1395i-4. Most hospitals, 

including LMC, derive a substantial portion of revenue from treating Medicare beneficiaries and 

billing the Medicare program.  

9. Medicare provides reimbursement to provider hospitals depending on the patient’s 

status as either inpatient or outpatient. 

10. Hospital outpatient services are reimbursed on the Hospital Outpatient Prospective 

Payment System (HOPPS).  All such services are classified into groups called Ambulatory 

Payment Classifications (APCs). Services in each APC are clinically similar in terms of the 

resources they require. A payment rate is established for each APC. Depending on the services 

provided, hospitals may be paid for more than one APC for an encounter. 

11. Hospital inpatient services are reimbursed under the Inpatient Prospective Payment 

System (IPPS). IPPS is a system that classifies hospital cases into one of approximately 500 

groups, also referred to as “DRGs,” expected to use similar hospital resources. DRGs have been 
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used since 1983 to determine Medicare’s hospital reimbursement rate. DRGs can also be grouped 

into Major Diagnostic Categories (MDCs).  

12. Once a Medicare beneficiary is discharged, the hospital submits claims for interim 

reimbursement for services.  42 C.F.R. §§ 413.1, 413.60, 413.64.  This requires a hospital to submit 

patient-specific claims for interim payments on CMS Form UB-04 (formerly UB-92) to 

Medicare’s fiscal intermediary.1  

13. In addition to submitting an interim claim, CMS also requires Medicare provider 

hospitals to submit an annual “Hospital Cost Report” on form CMS-2552.  The Hospital Cost 

Report is a final claim by a provider in which a provider declares its annual Medicare 

reimbursement to the fiscal intermediary for items and services provided to Medicare beneficiaries 

that year. See 42 U.S.C. § 1395g(a); 42 C.F.R. § 413.20; see also 42 C.F.R. § 405.1801(b)(1). 

Medicare relies on the Hospital Cost Report to determine whether the provider is entitled to more 

reimbursement than already received through interim payments, or whether the provider has been 

overpaid and must reimburse Medicare. 42 C.F.R. §§ 405.1803, 413.60 & 413.64(f)(1).  

14. Each Hospital Cost Report contains an express certification that must be signed by 

the provider’s chief administrator or designee. The Hospital Cost Report Certification warns 

providers that: 

MISREPRESENTATION OR FALSIFICATION OF ANY INFORMATION 

CONTAINED IN THIS COST REPORT MAY BE PUNISHABLE BY 

CRIMINAL, CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION, FINE AND/OR 

IMPRISONMENT UNDER FEDERAL LAW. FURTHERMORE, IF SERVICES 

IDENTIFIED IN THIS REPORT WERE PROVIDED OR PROCURED 

THROUGH THE PAYMENT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OF A KICKBACK 

OR WERE OTHERWISE ILLEGAL, CRIMINAL, CIVIL AND 

ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION, FINES AND/OR IMPRISONMENT MAY 

RESULT. 

                                                 
1 A fiscal intermediary is a private insurance company that serves as the government’s agent in 

administering a health insurance program.  
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This warning is followed by the certification language requiring administrators to certify that they 

have read this warning and certify that the cost report is “a true, correct and complete statement 

prepared from the books and records of the provider in accordance with applicable instructions, 

except as noted.” Providers must also affirm that they are “familiar with the laws and regulations 

regarding the provision of the health care services, and that the services identified in this cost report 

were provided in compliance with such laws and regulations.” 

15. A hospital also has an affirmative duty to disclose all known errors and omissions 

in its Medicare reimbursement claims to the fiscal intermediary. 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(a)(3) 

(“Whoever […] having knowledge of the occurrence of any event affecting (A) his initial or 

continued right to any such benefit or payment […] conceals or fails to disclose such event with 

an intent fraudulently to secure such benefit or payment either in a greater amount or quantity than 

is due or when no such benefit or payment is authorized […] shall […] be guilty of a felony.”). 

16. Annual Medicare reimbursement payments for inpatient hospital services are 

determined by adding the total claims submitted by the provider for particular patient discharges 

(specifically listed on UB-04s) during the course of the fiscal year to any other Medicare liabilities. 

Interim payments made during the course of the fiscal year are subtracted from this sum to 

determine whether Medicare owes the hospital or whether the hospital owes Medicare. 

17. At all relevant times to this Amended Complaint, LMC submitted claims for interim 

payments and Hospital Cost Reports to Medicare through its fiscal intermediary and received 

substantial payment for services rendered to Medicare beneficiaries. For example, in 2013, LMC 

received in excess of $44 million from the Medicare program, which comprised more than 22% of 

its total accounts receivable and more than 44% of receivables collected. Likewise, in 2014, LMC 
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received in excess of $35 million from the Medicare program, which comprised more than 19% of 

total accounts receivable and more than 37% of receivables collected.  

18. In collecting these large sums of money, LMC’s Hospital Cost Reports included 

the aforementioned certifications of compliance with federal law governing the Medicare Program, 

which includes compliance with the Stark Law and AKS.  

The TRICARE/CHAMPUS Program 

19. The Civilian Health and Medical Program for the Uniformed Services known as 

TRICARE Management Activity (TRICARE/CHAMPUS) provides federal health insurance for 

active duty members of the armed forces and their families at non-military healthcare facilities. 10 

U.S.C. §§ 1971-1106; 32 C.F.R. § 199.4(a). 

20. TRICARE/CHAMPUS reimburses hospital providers for healthcare services 

provided to program beneficiaries on an interim basis and for capital and educational costs incurred 

as reflected by the hospital’s Medicare cost report. 32 C.F.R. § 199.6. Like Medicare, 

TRICARE/CHAMPUS reimburses hospitals based on the providers “Request for Reimbursement 

of CHAMPUS Capital and Direct Medical Education Costs” in which the provider certifies the 

number of TRICARE/CHAMPUS patient days and financial information using the Medicare cost 

report for that facility, and certifies that the submission is “accurate and based upon the hospital’s 

Medicare cost report.”  

21. Once received, the fiscal intermediary applies a reimbursement formula using the 

data furnished by the provider to reimburse a percentage of the hospital’s capital and medical 

education costs proportional to the percentage of TRICARE/CHAMPUS patients in the facility. 

22. At all relevant times to this Complaint, LMC submitted claims for interim payments 

and for reimbursement to TRICARE/CHAMPUS through its fiscal intermediary and received 

3:14-cv-03653-CMC     Date Filed 09/24/15    Entry Number 24     Page 6 of 32



7 

payment for services rendered to TRICARE/CHAMPUS beneficiaries. These submissions 

contained certifications by LMC employees on LMC’s behalf making the aforementioned 

certifications to the TRICARE/CHAMPUS program.  

The Medicaid Program 

23. The Medicaid Program is a joint federal-state program that provides health 

insurance benefits to poor and disabled persons. Medicaid is administered by the states, making 

federal involvement in the program limited to providing matching funds and ensuring states 

comply with certain minimum standards for federal financial participation (FFP). 41 U.S.C. §§ 

1396 et seq. 

24. One minimum requirement is that states’ Medicaid program must cover hospital 

services. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(10)(A); id. § 1396d(a)(1)-(2). In many states, including South 

Carolina, provider hospitals file annual cost reports with the state’s Medicaid agency, here the 

South Carolina Department of Human Services, or its intermediary, similar to the protocol 

governing Medicare cost report submissions. 

25. Some states allow hospitals to file the Medicare cost report to calculate Medicaid 

reimbursement in lieu of filing a state-specific cost report.  Regardless, Medicaid providers report 

the same type of financial data (e.g., the number of patients treated) in Medicaid cost reports as is 

reported in Medicare cost reports. 

26. Medicaid cost reports, whether they incorporate Medicare’s reporting requirement 

or implement their own, require a provider to expressly certify that the information provided is 

true and correct. 

27. At all relevant times to this Amended Complaint, LMC submitted claims for interim 

payments and for reimbursement to Medicaid through its fiscal intermediary and received payment 
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for services rendered to Medicaid beneficiaries. For example, in 2013, LMC received in excess of 

$17 million from the Medicaid program, which comprised almost 9% of its total accounts 

receivable and more than 17% of receivables collected. Likewise, in 2014, LMC received in excess 

of $16 million from the Medicaid program, which comprised almost 9% of total accounts 

receivable and almost 17% of receivables collected.  

28. In collecting these large sums of money, LMC’s filed hospital cost reports that 

included certifications of compliance with federal law governing the Medicaid Program, which 

includes compliance with the Stark Law and AKS.  

The False Claims Act 

29. The False Claims Act (FCA) provides, in relevant part, that: 

any person who--(A) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false 

or fraudulent claim for payment or approval;  

 

(B) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or 

statement material to a false or fraudulent claim; […] 

 

(D) has possession, custody, or control of property or money used, or to be 

used, by the Government and knowingly delivers, or causes to be delivered, 

less than all of that money or property; […] or 

 

(G) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or 

statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to 

the Government, or knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly 

avoids or decreases an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to 

the Government, 

 

* * * 

is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than 

$5,000 and not more than $10,000, as adjusted by the Federal Civil Penalties 

Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990 (28 U.S.C. 2461 note; Public Law 104-

4101), plus 3 times the amount of damages which the Government sustains 

because of the act of that person. 

 

31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1). 
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The Stark Law 

30. The Stark Law, 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn,2 prohibits a hospital (or other provider) from 

submitting claims for payment to federal insurance programs when those claims arise from a 

patient referral3 for “designated health services” (DHS) from a physician that has a “financial 

relationship” with the hospital.  

31. The Stark Law provides, in pertinent part, that a physician may not make a referral 

“if the physician (or an immediate family member of such physician) has a financial relationship 

with the referred provider.” 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn(a)(1)(A); 42 C.F.R. § 411.353(a). Likewise, the 

provider “may not present or cause to be presented a claim” of reimbursement “for designated 

health services furnished pursuant to a referral prohibited [by the Stark Law].” 42 U.S.C. § 

1395nn(a)(1)(B); see also 42 C.F.R. § 411.353(b). 

32. Congress’s decision to bar relationships fraught with the possibility for self-dealing 

stemmed from empirical evidence that physicians with a financial interest in a hospital used more 

of the hospital’s services than similarly situated physicians without a pecuniary interest. By 

adopting the Stark Law, Congress sought to ensure that only medically necessary services were 

paid by the federal fisc by removing doctors’ pecuniary incentive to refer patients to providers 

with whom they had a financial relationship. Accordingly, the United States is barred from paying 

                                                 
2 The Stark Law was adopted in two parts, commonly called Stark I and Stark II. Stark I applied 

to referrals for clinical laboratory services. See Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1989, P.L. 

101-239, § 6204. In 1993, Congress extended the law (Stark II) to referrals for ten additional 

designated health services (DHS). See Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1993, P.L. 103-66, § 13562, 

Social Security Act Amendments of 1994, P.L. 103-432, § 152. 

3 The Stark Law defines “referral” as “the request or establishment of a plan of care by a physician 

which includes the provision of designated health services.” 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn(h)(5)(A). 
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such a claim and hospitals must reimburse claims mistakenly paid by the United States. 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1395nn(g)(1); 42 C.F.R. § 411.353(c, d). 

33. A “financial relationship” regulated by the Stark Law includes any “compensation 

arrangement” except those excluded by the statute. 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn(a)(2)(B). Generally, a 

compensation arrangement is one that pays any remuneration—whether directly or indirectly, 

overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind—to the physician. Id. § 1395nn(h)(1).  

34. An employer-employee relationship, like the one LMC has with its employee-

physicians, falls within the definition a “financial relationship” as contemplated by the Stark Law. 

35. One of the exceptions to Stark’s general prohibition against referrals to financially 

related providers is the bona fide employment relationship (BFER) exception, codified at 42 

U.S.C. § 1395nn(e)(2). The BFER exception permits an employee-physician to make an otherwise 

impermissible referral by excluding the conflicted physician’s fair market value wages from the 

definition of “compensation arrangement.”  

36. Subsection (e)(2) of the BFER exception excludes from the definition of a 

compensation arrangement any amount paid by the employer to the physician if: 

(A)  the employment is for identifiable services, 

 

(B)  the amount of the remuneration under the employment-- 

 

(i)  is consistent with the fair market value of the services, and 

 

(ii)  is not determined in a manner that takes into account (directly or 

indirectly) the volume or value of any referrals by the referring physician, 

 

(C)  the remuneration is provided pursuant to an agreement which would be 

commercially reasonable even if no referrals were made to the employer, and 

 

(D)  the employment meets such other requirements as the Secretary may impose 

by regulation as needed to protect against program or patient abuse. 
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Id. § 1395nn(e)(2) (emphasis added). The BFER exception also permits payment of remuneration 

in the form of a productivity bonus for services performed by the physician. Id.  

37. In addition to the statutory requirements, the HHS Secretary has further required, 

at 42 C.F.R. 411.354 that in order for a bona fide employer to require a physician to make referrals 

to the employer-provider, the employment agreement must meet all of the following conditions:  

(i)  Is set in advance for the term of the agreement.  

 

(ii)  Is consistent with fair market value for services performed (that is, the 

payment does not take into account the volume or value of anticipated or required 

referrals).  

 

(iii)  Otherwise complies with an applicable exception under § 411.355 or § 

411.357.  

 

(iv)  Complies with both of the following conditions:  

 

 (A) The requirement to make referrals to a particular provider, 

 practitioner, or supplier is set forth in a written agreement signed 

 by the parties.  

 

 (B) The requirement to make referrals to a particular provider, 

 practitioner, or supplier does not apply if the patient expresses a 

 preference for a different provider, practitioner, or supplier; the 

 patient’s insurer determines the provider, practitioner, or supplier; 

 or the referral is not in the patient’s best medical interests in the 

 physician’s judgment.  

 

(v) The required referrals relate solely to the physician’s services covered by 

the scope of the employment or the contract, and the referral requirement is 

reasonably necessary to effectuate the legitimate business purposes of the 

compensation arrangement. In no event may the physician be required to make 

referrals that relate to services that are not provided by the physician under the 

scope of his or her employment or contract. 

 

42 C.F.R. § 411.354(d)(4) (emphasis added).  

38. In other words, the BFER exception allows hospital providers like LMC to receive 

referrals from their employee physicians provided that the physician’s compensation is 

commercially reasonable, fair market value compensation, set in advance, for work performed by 
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the physician, which is not tethered to the volume or value of the referrals, and does not interfere 

with the physicians’ judgment or patient’s preference.  

39. At all times relevant here, the Stark Law’s prohibition against self-interested 

referrals applied to DHSs including laboratory services; inpatient and outpatient hospital services; 

physical therapy; occupational therapy; radiology; radiation therapy; durable medical equipment 

and supplies; parenteral and enteral nutrients, equipment, and supplies; prosthetics, orthotics, and 

prosthetic devices and supplies; outpatient prescription drugs; and home health services. See 42 

U.S.C. § 1395nn(h)(6). 

40. The Stark Law is a strict liability statute: if no exception applies, then all self-

interested referrals are subject to disallowance. United States ex rel. Drakeford v. Tuomey, 792 

F.3d 364, 386-87, 993 (4th Cir. 2015) (Toumey II); see also 42 C.F.R. § 411.353 (concerning 

Medicare). The Stark Law’s strict-liability regime essentially creates a presumption that since no 

self-interested hospital would enter into a transaction requiring it to pay more than the marketplace 

required, commercially unreasonable financial arrangements (like practice acquisitions) and 

compensation arrangement (like employment contracts) with physicians are compensation for 

DHS referrals. Simply put, the law presumes that excessive compensation is indirect payment 

designed to buy illicit referrals. See, e.g., U.S. ex rel. Kosenske v. Carlisle HMA, Inc., 554 F.3d 

88, 97 (3d Cir. 2009) (the Stark Law “is predicated on the recognition that, where one party is in 

a position to generate business for the other, negotiated agreements between such parties are often 

designed to disguise the payment of non-fair-market-value compensation.”).  

41. While HHS Secretary is authorized to create regulatory exceptions, like the BFER, 

these exceptions are permitted only where the Secretary decides that the conduct in question “does 

not pose a risk of program or patient abuse.” 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn(b)(4).  
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42. Compliance with the Stark Laws (and regulations) is a material term of payment in 

federal health insurance programs. See Tuomey II, 792 F.3d at 383. 

The Anti-Kickback Statute 

43. The federal Anti-Kickback Statute (AKS), 42 U.S.C. § 1320-7b makes it a crime to 

knowingly and willfully offer, pay, solicit or receive any remuneration to induce the referral of 

business reimbursable under a federal health benefits program.. 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b). 

44. “Any remuneration” means any kickback, bribe, or rebate, direct or indirect, overt 

or covert, cash or in kind. Id. § 1320a-7b(b)(1). Any ownership interest or compensation 

arrangement that constitutes a financial relationship under the Stark Laws also constitutes a 

remuneration under the AKS, unless a safe harbor applies. See ¶ 48, infra. 

45. AKS violations are a felony punishable by a maximum fine of $25,000, 

imprisonment up to five years, or both, and exclusion from federal health care programs for at least 

five years. See 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b. In addition to the statute’s criminal penalties, the HHS 

Secretary has power to impose administrative penalties including exclusion and sanctions of 

$10,000 per kickback violation. Id. § 1320a-7a. 

46. The statute’s prohibition against knowing and willful conduct in disregard of the 

law extends to any arrangement where one purpose of the remuneration is to induce referrals. 

United States ex rel. Westmoreland v. Amgen, Inc., 812 F. Supp. 2d 39, 47 (D. Mass. 2011) 

(collecting cases).  

47. Like the Stark Law, the HHS Secretary promulgates regulations defining safe 

harbor practices not subject to AKS liability where the excluded practices are unlikely to result in 

fraud or abuse. See 42 C.F.R. §1001.952.  The safe harbors set conditions that, if met, will not give 

rise to criminal or administrative action.  
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48. Compliance with the AKS is a material condition of payment under federal 

insurance programs such that violating the AKS gives rise to a false claim. See Westmoreland, 

812 F. Supp. 2d at 54 (collecting cases). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS CONCERNING 

LEXINGTON MEDICAL CENTER’S FRAUDULENT CONDUCT 

 

49. LMC has billed and continues to bill federal health insurance programs for self-

interested DHS referrals from its extensive network of approximately 275 employee physicians. 

The scheme at issue here is part of a concerted business strategy by LMC that entails (1) buying 

access to patients through the acquisition of physician practices, (2) paying these physicians 

commercially unreasonable compensation in exchange for their practice and their employment at 

LMC, (3) imposing a de facto mandate on these physicians that requires, and closely tracks, their 

referrals to LMC to ensure the hospital receives the DHS referrals for which is has paid and 

continues to pay a premium, and (4) punishes doctors like Dr. Hammett who exercise independent 

medical judgment that impacts the hospital’s bottom line.  

50. This hub-and-spoke business model, designed to feed valuable DHS referrals back 

to the hospital, places golden handcuffs on physicians by incentivizing referrals with employment 

contracts that use excessive compensation formulas that can only be explained as consideration 

for the past and future referrals the physician will generate.   

51. The illicit nature of this scheme is evidenced by LMC’s physician compensation 

scheme, employment contracts, internal referral-tracking reports, as well as the statements and 

conduct of hospital executives directed at Dr. Hammett.  
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Dr. Hammett’s Personal Knowledge of 

Defendant’s Stark Law and AKS violations 

 

52. For the last eight years, Dr. Hammett has practiced medicine as a neurologist with 

a particular focus on stroke and headache management. Dr. Hammett began his neurology practice 

in 2006 at University Specialty Clinics (USC), part of the University of South Carolina School of 

Medicine’s teaching hospital, as a clinical assistant professor. Dr. Hammett’s practice took a 

special interest in headache treatment after witnessing the adverse impact migraine headache can 

have on patient’s relationships, career, and even personality. Due to the nature of his specialty, Dr. 

Hammett orders a large number of MRI studies.  

53. In May 2010, Dr. Hammett went into private practice and joined Columbia Medical 

Group (CMG), which, at the time, was a seven-doctor internal medicine practice owned by the 

practice partners and located at 4540 Trenholm Road, Columbia, South Carolina 29206. Dr. 

Hammett estimates that his colleagues each saw between 1,500 and 2,000 patients.  

54. Dr. Hammett was CMG’s only specialist. During his tenure with CMG, Dr. 

Hammett quickly grew his practice to approximately 1,000 patients with a several month-long 

waiting list.  

55. CMG was a profitable physician practice due largely to the fact that the practice 

owned several imaging devices, including an MRI, which allowed it to provide patients with 

ancillary services, the cost of which were financially lucrative to the practice.  

56. While Dr. Hammett was not a CMG partner, he enjoyed his employment by CMG 

because CMG allowed him to control his practice. One of the aspects of his employment over 

which Dr. Hammett enjoyed absolute discretion was deciding where to refer patients for ancillary 

services.  For example, Dr. Hammett was free to make outside referrals for imaging studies and 

did if it was in the patient’s best interest. Dr. Hammett sent a number of patients whose insurance 
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would not cover MRI scans to Palmetto Imaging in lieu of using CMG’s service because he knew 

Palmetto Imaging to have a lower cash price for their service. Even though these outside referrals 

adversely affected CMG’s profits, Dr. Hammett never received implicit or explicit pressure to do 

anything other than what he deemed in his patients’ best interest.   

57. On or about February 2011, LMC approached CMG to inquire into purchasing the 

practice and directly employing its physicians. As a non-partner physician, Dr. Hammett was not 

directly involved with the negotiations, but was kept informed of the negotiations by colleagues 

who were, particularly the practice’s managing physician, Dr. Kim Meadows.  While Dr. Hammett 

was apprehensive about the prospect of being employed by a hospital, he remained open to the 

possible change, largely due to the positive experience he had working for USC.   

58. Sometime during 2011, LMC offered to acquire CMG and hire its physicians and 

practice manager, David Gavin, as employees. This offer, as relayed to Dr. Hammett, was notable 

in that the compensation LMC offered CMG physicians was extremely high.  

59. Sometime in February, Meadows stopped by Dr. Hammett’s office with Gavin and 

told him that under LMC’s employment offer, all of the CMG physicians, except for her, would 

be paid more than their current salary with CMG. For example, Meadows told Dr. Hammett that 

his predictive RVU-based4 compensation at LMC would be $325,000 annually—a significant 

increase from the approximately $250,000 he was currently making working for CMG.  

60. At or about that same time Dr. Hammett spoke with Gavin who relayed a 

conversation with his contact at LMC in which it was explained that when designing an acquisition 

deal, LMC’s compensation formula for acquired-practice physicians recognized that physician 

                                                 
4 An RVU or “relative value unit” is measure of value used by Medicare (and other HMO) as part 

of its resource-based relative value scale (RBRVS) to set provider compensation using a formula 

that accounts for regional cost variances. 
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owners would lose ancillary services income post acquisition, but that LMC’s acquisition 

proposals addressed this by structuring physician compensation to compensate doctors for the loss 

of ancillary services income.  

61. Gavin also told Dr. Hammett that a competitor, Palmetto Health, “had their chance” 

to buy CMG but that they “were not even close” to what LMC was offering to purchase the 

practice, so much so, that Gavin verbally wondered as to the propriety of the LMC proposal.  

62. Dr. Hammett also had questions. For example, Dr. Hammett asked why LMC was 

offering CMG physicians a seven-year employment contract, which, in Dr. Hammett’s experience, 

provided an unusually long contract term. Gavin explained LMC offered the seven-year term to 

ensure CMG physicians could lock in their compensation as consideration for the value of the 

ancillary services CMG was selling to LMC. Gavin explained that LMC’s generous compensation 

offer was motivated by “how we can no longer take ancillaries into account” once CMG physicians 

become LMC employees. Gavin explained that LMC’s proposal “built [ancillaries] into the 

[compensation] package.” 

63. Sometime between February and May 2011, Dr. Hammett attended a meeting 

between CMG and LMC held at Diane’s Restaurant (formerly located on Devine Street) in 

Columbia, South Carolina. In attendance were all of CMG’s physicians, CMG’s practice manager, 

then-LMC CEO Michael J. Biediger, LMC Senior VP and CFO Melinda P. Kruzner, and then-

LMC VP for Physician Operations Casey Spotts.  

64. During that meeting, LMC provided binders to CMG’s partner physicians 

containing financial information concerning the proposed acquisition. Dr. Hammett also received 

a binder but without all of the information provided to CMG partners. Dr. Hammett’s information 
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packet indicated he would be offered a base salary of $325,000 plus a $30,000 signing bonus plus 

a productivity bonus.  

65. CMG accepted LMC’s offer to purchase the practice and hire CMG’s physicians as 

LMC employees. Included in the sale of the practice was CMG’s lucrative imaging devices which 

would generate ancillary service revenue for LMC as they previously had done for CMG’s 

partners. CMG retained its name and location post-acquisition and is now identified as a LMC 

physician practice.  

66. On May 16, 2011, Dr. Hammett signed an employment agreement and became a 

LMC employee. Dr. Hammett’s employment agreement is attached as Exhibit A.  

67. Dr. Hammett’s initial months as a LMC employee went well as Dr. Hammett was 

pleased by LMC’s commitment of additional resources, such as staffing and supplies. LMC also 

converted CMG to a new electronic healthcare records system.  

68. However, LMC’s management also subjected CMG physicians and their earnings 

to greater financial scrutiny than Dr. Hammett was accustomed. Each month after LMC acquired 

CMG, an RVU report was emailed to all CMG physicians. In these reports, LMC provided a 

comparison of each physicians’ productivity against one another as well as a breakdown of each 

providers’ services and procedures for that month.  

69.  Approximately six months after becoming an LMC employee, in or about 

December 2011 or January 2012, Gavin, who was promoted by LMC approximately one month 

after the acquisition, held a provider meeting of all former-CMG physicians. Gavin, now working 

in LMC administration, called and led the meeting even though his former role as practice manager 

had since been filled by Ray Weigner.  
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70. During this meeting, Gavin provided Dr. Hammett and his colleagues with bar 

graph reports, generated by the hospital’s internal referral-tracking system, which reported a 

decline in ancillary referrals to the hospital. These reports illustrated an across-the-board decline 

in orders by CMG physicians compared to referrals prior to the acquisition. Examples of these 

graphs provided to Dr. Hammett by LMC are attached as Exhibit B. At one point during the 

meeting, Meadows asked Gavin, “Ok, David, what do we need to do?” Gavin replied, “Order more 

studies.”  

71. Dr. Hammett understood Gavin’s comments, and the purpose of this provider 

meeting, to make clear to the new LMC employee physicians that the premium LMC was paying 

in the form of compensation was in exchange for referrals to LMC.  

72. Gavin privately told Dr. Hammett that the CMG/LMC arrangement was predicated 

on acquisition of CMG’s in-house imaging equipment, which was expected to generate revenue 

for LMC. Gavin further stated that it was problematic that orders were down. It was made clear to 

Dr. Hammett by Gavin and other CMG physicians that CMG was losing money for LMC post-

acquisition and that these losses were attributable to the additional compensation and declining 

ancillary profits.   

73. Over the next two to three months, Dr. Hammett continued to occasionally order 

imaging studies elsewhere because of the cost to his patients. Specifically, LMC’s MRI studies, 

which Dr. Hammett used often, were more expensive than Palmetto Imaging’s MRIs. While Dr. 

Hammett generally preferred the convenience of using LMC’s machine, he referred patients whose 

insurance would not cover the service to Palmetto Imaging’s more affordable service.  

74. On or about April or May 2013, Palmetto Imaging acquired new software that 

would allow Dr. Hammett to view their MRI studies on his computer at his CMG office. Dr. 
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Hammett’s practice is to personally review his patient’s MRI studies. One of the reasons LMC’s 

in-house MRI machine was so convenient is that it allowed Dr. Hammett to review studies down 

the hall from his office. Palmetto Imaging’s new software allowed him to do the same thing from 

his office, making both services equally convenient.  

75. Over a 10-day period at or about this same time, Dr. Hammett ordered a number of 

MRI studies from Palmetto Imaging in order to test the new service. Shortly thereafter, Meadows 

stopped Dr. Hammett in the office to ask whether there was a problem with LMC’s MRI machine. 

Dr. Hammett said “no.”  

76. A few days later, on May 15, 2013, Meadows called Dr. Hammett to her office to 

discuss Dr. Hammett’s MRI referrals. Present was Casey Spots, then-LMC’s vice president of 

physician operations and Gavin’s supervisor. Meadows asked Dr. Hammett why he was referring 

patients to Palmetto Imaging for MRI studies and Dr. Hammett explained that LMC’s service was 

more expensive.  

77. Meadows challenged Dr. Hammett’s explanation, saying she had called Dr. 

Hammett’s patients in an effort to learn why he referred them to Palmetto Imaging and that some 

of them were Medicare patients—the inference being that these patients were not paying out of 

pocket, but were covered by the federal insurance program.  

78. Dr. Hammett was told that by making these medically appropriate referrals he was 

“threatening the jobs of practice staff.” Meadows told Dr. Hammett he was a “poor fit” for LMC 

and he was asked to resign. He declined.  

79. On July 2, 2013, Dr. Hammett was terminated. 

80. One month after he was terminated, Meadows and Gavin exchanged emails 

discussing physician compensation, ancillary services, and the fact that the practice was losing 
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money for LMC. During the exchange, Meadows acknowledged ancillary collections were down, 

but struggled to understand why the practice was losing money, asking, “we shouldn’t be losing 

money, even if we do less ancillary. How much do benefits and management and employees cost 

us now and compared to previously?” The answer to Meadows’ question is simple: LMC was 

losing money because, since LMC’s compensation scheme accounted for the value of prospective 

ancillaries ordered, a reduction in ancillaries resulted in a net loss to LMC.  

81. After his termination, Dr. Hammett was prevented from practicing medicine in 

Richland and Lexington Counties for over eight months on account of a contractual non-compete 

clause. Due to this non-compete, LMC was able to effectively buy Dr. Hammett’s patients while 

he was unable to practice and thereby eliminate any choice those patients have with respect to their 

healthcare provider.  

82. Dr. Hammett deeply regrets his decision to join LMC because he believes the 

practices discussed here compromised his practice (and the practice of his colleagues) and put his 

reputation at risk. He also believes LMC’s compensation scheme was designed to buy his 

complicity. He brought this action to expose LMC as a hospital healthcare network that uses illegal 

incentives and overt pressure to maximize profits at the expense of patient care.  

83. LMC’s financial arrangements with employee physicians violate the Stark Laws 

and/or the AKS in at least three ways. First, LMC’s physician compensation is objectively 

unreasonable as it far exceeds the fair market value of the services these physicians are performing 

and fails to comply with any regulatory safe harbor to Stark or AKS liability. Second, LMC’s 

compensation scheme takes into account the volume or value of patient referrals physicians are 

expected to make pursuant to the hospital’s de facto mandatory referral policy.  Third, LMC paid 

CMG’s owners a post-closing bonus never included in the acquisition contract and not bargained 
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for as part of the value of the practice; a kickback designed to reward former CMG owners for 

future referrals.  

LMC’s employee-physician compensation is  

commercially unreasonable and in excess of fair market value 

 

84. LMC’s contractual relationships with its physician employees are “compensation 

arrangement[s]” involving “remuneration” as contemplated by 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn(h)(1). 

Accordingly, all LMC-physician referrals are tainted, self-interested referrals unless the 

compensation arrangements comply with the requirements of the BFER exception codified at 42 

U.S.C. § 1395nn(e)(2).  

85. They do not because they are commercially unreasonable and in excess of fair 

market value.  

86. For example, Dr. Hammett’s employment contract entitles him to base 

compensation of $318,758 plus an annual productivity bonus. See Ex. A.  

87. Generally, this productivity bonus is calculated by multiplying Dr. Hammett’s 

RVUs by a “Value per Worked RVU” and subtracting his extender reduction,5 annual withholding, 

and base compensation.  

88. The Value per Worked RVU multiplier changes the dollar value associated with 

each RVU depending on a three-tiered range that pays a higher per-RVU bonus at key thresholds. 

Specifically, a physician generating between 0 and 4000 RVUs annually falls within Tier 1 and 

receives a $50 per RVU multiplier. Tier 2 includes 4000.01 to 5500 RVUs and pays $74 per unit. 

Tier 3, 5500.01 RVUs and higher, pays $98 per unit.  

                                                 
5 The “extender reduction” calculates the expense associated with nurse practitioners, physician 

assistants, and other staff hired by the hospital to work at the physician’s direction.  
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89. Under this compensation scheme, LMC paid Dr. Hammett an average of $600,000 

annually. Specifically, he earned approximately $650,000 from June 2011 to May 2012 and 

$550,000 from June 2012 to May 2013. This is significantly more money than Dr. Hammett had 

ever earned as a neurologist or ever expected to earn.   

90. While there is nothing specifically impermissible about a compensation scheme 

tied to productivity, here, LMC’s base compensation and productivity bonuses are exorbitantly 

high such that they are both commercially unreasonable for the services Dr. Hammett was 

providing and far in excess of what the market place would support for a similarly situated 

neurologist in the Columbia-Lexington healthcare marketplace.  

91. As another example, another former CMG and current LMC internal medicine 

physician, Meadows, received a salary from LMC in excess of $500,000.  

92. According to the leading association for medical practice executives, which tracks 

physician compensation nationally, the median salary for internal medicine physicians in 2013 is 

$229,000. See Medical Group Management Association, MGMA Physician Compensation and 

Production Survey, Table 1: Physician Compensation (2014) & p. 28 (Internal Medicine: General). 

The 90th percentile of internal medicine physicians includes physician’s earnings $378,143 or 

more.  

93. Accordingly, compensation in excess of a half million dollars is commercially 

unreasonable and well in excess of fair market value.  

94. A review of LMC physician’s RVU production further bolsters the conclusion that 

LMC’s physician compensation is commercially unreasonable and in excess of fair market value. 

For example, MGMA data tracking internal medicine physician’s RVU production in 2013 reports 
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a median RVU production of 4581, with the 90th percentile producing 7,368 RVUs or more. See 

id. at Table 11: Physician Work RVUs.  

95. Prior to the CMG acquisition, LMC reviewed CMG’s physician RVUs and, in a 

written report dated January 24, 2011, projected that as LMC employees, each physician would 

generate between 4500 to just over 6500 RVUs. In other words, LMC’s compensation figures are 

built on average productivity assumptions, but its physicians earn in excess of the 90th percentile.  

96. This discrepancy is created by excessive contractual RVU multipliers designed to 

increase physician compensation to impermissible levels while maintaining an appearance of a 

productivity-based compensation scheme. 

97. These compensation arrangements are objectively unreasonable and in excess of 

fair market value.  

LMC compensates physicians for the volume and value of patient referrals 

98. LMC’s physician compensation scheme pays compensation not just for the services 

physicians perform, but for the volume and value of patient referrals.  

99. For example, LMC’s managers admonished its physicians for a decline in referrals 

and explicitly instructed them to “order more studies.” 

100. Even assuming if there were a benign, legal explanation for pressuring physicians 

to order more studies, LMC cannot mandate referrals to the hospital (as opposed to another 

provider), because LMC’s physician contracts are void of a written referral mandate memorialized 

at the inception of the employment relationship that would meet the safe harbor requirement 

(among other requirements). Compare Ex. A, with 42 C.F.R. § 411.354(d)(4).  

101. Additionally, the fact that LMC tracks physician referrals is strong evidence of 

LMC’s belief that one of things for which its employees are being paid is to refer a specific number 

3:14-cv-03653-CMC     Date Filed 09/24/15    Entry Number 24     Page 24 of 32



25 

of services to the hospital and its knowledge that the compensation scheme accounts for these 

illicit referrals.   

102. LMC’s decision to track referrals is also evidence of the hospital’s motive for 

paying compensation in excess of fair market value, specifically, to ensure lucrative referrals for 

ancillary services more than make up the cost of the premium paid in physician compensation.  

LMC’s post-acquisition payment to former CMG owners 

103. After LMC purchased CMG, it made post-acquisition payments to the former 

owners that were not bargained for as part of the practice sale.  

104. Dr. Hammett learned of this payment by reviewing emails in furtherance of his 

employment lawsuit against LMC. One such email specifically refers to the availability of funds 

to pay post-acquisition bonuses to CMG’s former owners.  

105. LMC and CMG reached an agreement for the acquisition of CMG in exchange for 

a purchase price of just under $1.5 million—a price that presumably compensated CMG’s owners 

for the value of the practice and should not have included extra-contractual payments.  

LMC’s financial relationship with employee physicians violates the Stark Law 

106. A hospital that provides DHSs may not present or cause to be presented to a federal 

health insurance program a claim for DHS services furnished pursuant to a prohibited referral.  

107. LMC’s relationship with its employee physicians is a financial relationship subject 

to the Stark Laws. All of these referrals are prohibited by the Stark Laws unless one of the statutory 

or regulatory exceptions applies.  

108. LMC’s financial relationships with acquired-practice, employee physicians, 

including, but not limited to the former CMG physicians, violates the Stark Laws, and falls outside 

of the statutory and regulatory exceptions, in one or more of the following ways: 
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a. LMC pays compensation in excess of what is commercially 

reasonable as measured by industry standards and what LMC 

collects for the services each physicians provides;  

b. LMC pays compensation in excess of fair market value as measured 

by market data;  

c. The compensation paid includes the volume and value of the 

referrals the physician is generates by using excessively large RVU 

multipliers that incentivizes physicians to see more patients which, 

in turn, generates more ancillary services;  

d. LMC mandates referrals back to the hospital without regard for the 

physician’s judgement or patient’s best interest, and without 

memorializing this mandate in writing at the inception of the 

employment relationship;  

e. Through post-acquisition payments/bonuses to former practice 

owners that were not bargained for as part of the acquisition; and  

f. In other such ways as are uncovered during discovery.  

109. Compliance with the Stark Law is a material condition for payment in federal health 

insurance programs.  

110. LMC expressly certified its’ understanding that compliance is of material 

importance when it enrolled to participate in Medicare (see CMS Provider/Supplier Enrollment 

Application, Forms 855-A and 855-B) and when it submitted Hospital Cost Reports.  

LMC’s compensation scheme violates the AKS 

111. The AKS prohibits the knowing payment of remuneration to induce a referral.  
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112. LMC knowingly and willfully pays acquired-practice employee physicians’ 

remuneration, in the manner describe above.  

113. At least one of LMC’s purposes in paying this remuneration is to obtain DHS 

referrals of the volume or value anticipated prior to LMC’s decision to purchase the physician 

practices, including, but not limited to, CMG.   

114. LMC’s financial relationships with acquired-practice, employee physicians, 

including, but not limited to the former CMG physicians, violates the AKS, and falls outside of 

the statutory and regulatory safe harbors, in one or more of the ways described above. 

115. Kickbacks are malem in se and compliance with the AKS is a material condition 

for payment by federal health insurance programs.  

116. LMC expressly certified its’ understanding that AKS compliance is of material 

importance when it enrolled to participate in Medicare (see CMS Provider/Supplier Enrollment 

Application, Forms 855-A and 855-B) and when it submitted Hospital Cost Reports.  

COUNT I 

FCA VIOLATIONS OF 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A) & (B)6 

117. Plaintiff-Relator re-alleges and incorporates by reference each of the allegations in 

the preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

118. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was legally obligated to only seek 

reimbursement for services provided to federally insured patients in the Medicare, 

TRICARE/CHAMPUS, and Medicaid programs if Defendant complied with applicable federal 

law, specifically, the Stark Laws and AKS.  

                                                 
6 To the extent wrongdoing occurred prior to May 20, 2009, this Amended Complaint also alleges 

violations of the FCA prior to its recent amendments. See e.g., 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1).  
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119. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was also legally obligated to take 

corrective action upon discovering that it received payment for services not provided or provided 

in derogation of Defendant’s obligations under federal law.   

120. Instead, Defendant violated federal law and the terms and conditions of 

participation in federal health insurance programs by: 

a. Entering into physician employment agreements that compensate 

physicians in a commercially unreasonable manner and/or in excess 

of fair market value in violation of the employment exception to the 

referral prohibition imposed by the Stark Law, 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn; 

 

b. Compensating employee physicians based on the volume or value 

of services referred to the hospital in violation of the Stark Law;  

 

c. Tracking physician referrals for the purpose of compensating 

employee physician’s for the volume and value of their referrals in 

violation of the Stark Law;  

 

d. Accepting self-interested referrals prohibited by 42 U.S.C. § 

1395nn(a)(1)(A); 

 

e. Paying physician bonuses as compensation for referring ancillary 

services prior to acquiring CMG in violation of the Stark Law’s 

referral prohibition;  

 

f. Incentivizing self-interested referrals through a RVU compensation 

scheme that provides remuneration to physicians based on the 

volume and value of referred services;  

 

g. Paying remuneration to employee physicians in exchange for 

referrals in violation of the AKS, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b; and  

 

h.  In other such ways as discovered during the litigation of this action. 

 

121. Defendant knowingly, willfully and falsely certified its compliance with federal 

law when it submitted claims for payment that violated the Stark Law and the AKS in the manner 

described above.  
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122. These violations are material to Defendant’s receipt of payment as a provider in 

federal health insurance programs such that Defendant’s fraudulent certification of compliance 

with federal law renders these claims false for the purpose of the FCA.  

123. Defendant knowingly and willfully presented these claims to obtain payment from 

federal health insurance programs including Medicare, TRICARE/CHAMPUS, and Medicaid. 

124. Defendant knew that the Medicare, TRICARE/CHAMPUS, and Medicaid 

programs relied on, and continue to rely on, Defendant’s false certification that its claims complied 

with federal law.  

125. Defendant’s fraudulent claims have been and continue to be paid by federal health 

insurance programs at great cost to United States taxpayers.    

126. Defendant’s conduct is a violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A) & (B), as amended. 

COUNT II 

FCA VIOLATION OF 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(D)7 

127. Plaintiff-Relator re-alleges and incorporates by reference each of the allegations in 

the preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

128. Defendant had possession, custody, or control over government monies paid 

pursuant to interim reimbursements that were subject to year-end correction by the Hospital Cost 

Report protocol.  

129. By illegally inducing physicians make referrals to LMC or obtaining tainted, self-

interested referrals, Defendant fraudulently inflated the number of claims it made to the Medicare, 

TRICARE/CHAMPUS, and Medicaid insurance programs 

                                                 
7 To the extent wrongdoing occurred prior to May 20, 2009, this Amended Complaint also alleges 

violations of the FCA prior to its recent amendments. See e.g., 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2). 
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130. Had Defendant not fraudulently increased its revenues through the Stark Law and 

kickback scheme at issue here, Defendant would have retained less of the financial reimbursement 

paid by federal insurers.  

131. As such, Defendant’s kickback scheme violates the FCA by causing fewer federal 

funds to be returned to Medicare, TRICARE/CHAMPUS, and Medicaid   than would be returned 

but for Defendant’s inflated revenues.  

132. Defendant’s conduct is a violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(D), as amended. 

COUNT III 

FCA VIOLATION OF 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G)8 

133. Plaintiff-Relator re-alleges and incorporates by reference each of the allegations in 

the preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

134. Defendant submitted claims for reimbursement purporting to state all amount for 

which Defendant was legally entitled to bill the Medicare, TRICARE/CHAMPUS, and Medicaid 

health insurance programs.  

135. Notwithstanding these written statements by Defendant, Defendant knew it was not 

entitled to bill for services rendered pursuant to an illegal, self-interested patient referral scheme.  

136. Had these federal insurance programs known the truth, they would have reduced 

Defendant’s reimbursement payments by disallowing payment of self-interested and kickback-

tainted claims.  

137. Instead Defendant knowingly concealed the fact that its interim claims and Hospital 

Cost Report are materially false in order to avoid repaying its ill-gotten gains.  

138. Defendant’s conduct is a violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G), as amended. 

                                                 
8 To the extent wrongdoing occurred prior to May 20, 2009, this Amended Complaint also alleges 

violations of the FCA prior to its recent amendments. See e.g., 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2). 
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PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff-Relator on behalf of himself and the United States prays: 

i. That Defendant cease and desist from violating the FCA, the Stark Laws, 

and the AKS; 

ii. That the Court enter judgment against Defendant: 

1. Awarding an amount equal to three times the damages that the 

United States has sustained because of Defendant’s conduct, 

plus civil penalties of at least $5,500 to $11,000, adjusted 

upward as specified by applicable law, for each FCA violation 

of 31 U.S.C. § 3729;  

 

2. Awarding Plaintiff-Relator the appropriate bounty pursuant to 

31 U.S.C. § 3730; and 

 

3. Awarding Plaintiff-Relator attorneys’ fees and costs of this 

action, plus interest, including the costs to the United States 

for its expenses related to this action; 

 

iii. That Defendant disgorge all sums by which it has been unjustly enriched by 

its illegal conduct; 

iv. That the United States and Plaintiff-Relator receive all relief, both at law 

and at equity, to which he may reasonably be entitled; and 

v. That the Court order such further relief as it deems just and proper.  

REQUEST FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

Plaintiff-Relator hereby demands a trial by jury. 

 

 

 

[siagnature page follows] 
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Respectfully submitted by:  

 

 

  s/Richard A. Harpootlian    

Richard A. Harpootlian (Fed. ID # 1730) 

rah@harpootlianlaw.com 

Christopher P. Kenney (Fed. ID # 11314) 

cpk@harpootlianlaw.com 

RICHARD A. HARPOOTLIAN, P.A. 

1410 Laurel Street 

Post Office Box 1090 

Columbia, SC 29202 

Telephone: (803) 252-4848 

Facsimile: (803) 252-4810 

 

Jenkins Mann (Fed. ID # 9986) 

jmann@rogerslewis.com 

Shaun C. Blake (Fed. ID # 10358) 

sblake@rogerslewis.com 

ROGERS LEWIS JACKSON MANN  

& QUINN, LLC  

1330 Lady Street, Suite 400 

Columbia, SC 29201 

Telephone: (803) 256-1268 

Facsimile: (803) 252-3653 

 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-RELATOR 

DAVID H. HAMMETT, M.D.  

 

September 24, 2015 

Columbia, South Carolina. 
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Exhibit A 
David H. Hammett and Lexington 

Medical Center Employment Agreement 
Part 1 
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Exhibit A 
David H. Hammett and Lexington 

Medical Center Employment Agreement 
Part 2 
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Exhibit A 
David H. Hammett and Lexington 

Medical Center Employment Agreement 
Part 3 
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Exhibit B 
Lexington Medical Center Monthly 

Graphs 
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